RECEIVED

02-14-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP001750 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER DURSKI

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS AND ORDER PERMITTING EXPERT TESTIMONY WITHOUT CONDUCTING A DAUBERT HEARING IN WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT WITH THE HONORABLE PHILLIP A. KOSS PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

NATALIE L. WISCO State Bar No. 1101661

RICHARDS & DIMMER, S.C. 209 Eighth Street Racine, WI 53403 262-632-2200 (P) 262-632-3888 (F) wisco@racinedefense.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
Whether the court erred when it denied Mr. Durski's motion to suppress statements elicited by law enforcement during the custodial interrogations before and after his field sobriety tests?
Whether the court erred when it permitted the introduction of retrograde extrapolation expert testimony conducting a proper <i>Daubert</i> hearing, when Mr. Durski had consumed several alcoholic beverages after the time of driving?
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT
I. DEFENDANT WAS SUBJECTED TO CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION WITHOUT BEING READ <i>MIRANDA</i> WARNINGS IN VIOLAITION OF HIS FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHT AGAINST SELF INCRIMINATION6
A. Standard of Review6
B. Legal standards6
C. The court erred when it denied Mr. Durski's motion to suppress statements elicited by law enforcement during the custodial interrogations before and after his field sobriety tests

II.	THE TESTIMONY OF THE STATE
	TOXICOLOGY EXPERT SHOULD NOT HAVE
	BEEN ADMITTED WITHOUT ESTABLISHING
	THE APPROPRIATENESS OF THE METHODS
	USED AND PROBATIVE VALUE OF THE
	FINDINGS, OUTSIDE THE PRESENCE OF THE
	JURY12
A.	Standard of review12
B.	Legal standards
	1. <u>Wisconsin Statute 885.235</u> 13
	2. Wisconsin Statute section 907.0214
	3. Application of section 907.02 and 885.235 together
C.	The trial court erred when it ruled that the State had met its burden regarding admissibility and denied Defendant's request for a <i>Daubert</i> hearing, regarding the blood-alcohol test results and reverse extrapolation
CONCLU	JSION21
CERTIFI	CATIONS
APPEND	θΙΧ

CASES CITED

Daubert v. Merell Dow. Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993)
General Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136 (1997)13
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.s. 436 (1966)6, 7
Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291 (1980)7, 11
State v. Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2s 331 (1999)
State v. Bentdahl, 2013 WI 106
State v. Cunningham, 144 Wis. 2d 272 (1988)8
State v. Fillyaw, 104 Wis. 2d 700 (1981)
State v. Giese, 2014 WI App. 9212, 15, 17, 20
State v. Griffith, 2000 WI 7211
State v. Jackson, 147 Wis. 2d 824 (1989)6
State v. Kandutsch, 2011 WI 7815
State v. Mitchell, 167 Wis. 2d 672 (1992)7
State v. Shomberg, 2006 WI 912, 13
State v. Sonin, 2012 WI App. 5214
State v. Williams 225 Wis 2d 1 (2002) 8

United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980)8	
Wilcox v. Estate of Hines, 2014 WI 6017	
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)12	
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES CITED	
United States Constitution6Amend. V	
Wisconsin Statutes passim Section 885.235	

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP001750 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER DURSKI

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS AND ORDER PERMITTING EXPERT TESTIMONY WITHOUT CONDUCTING A DAUBERT HEARING IN WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT WITH THE HONORABLE PHILLIP A. KOSS PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the court erred when it denied Mr. Durski's motion to suppress statements elicited by law enforcement during the custodial interrogations before and after his field sobriety tests?

Whether the court erred when it permitted the introduction of retrograde extrapolation expert testimony conducting a proper *Daubert* hearing, when Mr. Durski had consumed several alcoholic beverages after the time of driving?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary as Defendant anticipates that the briefs of the parties will fully meet and discuss the issues on appeal. Publication is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 22, 2016, at 1:13am, City of Whitewater Police Officers were dispatched regarding a disturbance at 167 S. Locust Lane in the City of Whitewater. R. 17:1. The individuals at the residence informed police that a "family dispute" type altercation had taken place between the defendant-appellant, Christopher Durski (Mr. Durski) and a Mr. J. Patrick Fredrich. R. 66:124. Mr. Fredrich informed Officer Jim Elder that after a disagreement occurred in the home, Mr. Durski had left the residence, in a "very belligerent manner" in a white "Suburban/Escalade" type vehicle. *Id.* at 113. While there, Officer Elder was informed that Mr. Durski had possibly consumed alcohol before leaving the residence. *Id.* at 126-27.

Officer Elder later located Mr. Durski's vehicle at a Super 8 Motel not far from the location of the alleged disturbance. Id. at 128. After speaking with the front desk clerk, he was then able to locate Mr. Durski as the occupant of one of motel rooms and questioned him about the disturbance that occurred on Locust Lane. *Id.* Officer Elder then asked Mr. Durski about his conduct after the reported disturbance, where Mr. Durski informed the officer that he had consumed several alcoholic beverages after arriving at the motel. Id. Officer Elder then began to interrogate Mr. Durski and asked specific questions about how much alcohol he had consumed, what brand of alcohol he had consumed, what kind of containers the alcohol was in, and where the containers could be located. Id. at 132. Officer Elder then conducted field sobriety tests on Mr. Durski and came to the conclusion that he "was under the influence of an intoxicant and his ability to drive would be impaired." Id. at 140. Officer Elder continued to interrogate Mr. Durski, asking specific follow-up questions as to the location of the empty containers, before placing Mr. Durski under arrest. R. 67:5.

After Mr. Durski was placed under arrest, Officer Elder and other responding officers continued to question Mr. Durski as to his OWI-related conduct. *Id.* The officers interrogated Mr. Durski on where he had consumed alcohol, where the alcohol containers were, and even had Mr. Durski do a walkthough of the motel parking lot, describing his actions, all while still handcuffed and never having been informed of his rights under *Miranda v. Arizona. Id.* Finally, a blood draw was taken at 4:31 am, which showed a BAC of .094. On November 22, 2016, the Walworth County District Attorney's Office charged Mr. Durski with one count Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated—4th Offense and one count Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Content—4th Offense, as well as one count Disorderly Conduct, which—for

some unknown reason—was separately charged in Walworth County Case 2016CM633. R. 4.

On March 30, 2017, Mr. Durski challenged the admissibility of the statements he provided during the non-Mirandized custodial interrogation which occurred in his hotel room and the parking lot of the Super 8 Motel. R. 17. On May 15, 2017, the state filed a written response to Mr. Durski's motion and conceded that "any interrogation that occurred in the parking lot of the hotel after the defendant was arrested and before he was given his Miranda warnings must be suppressed." R. 18. However, the matter was still heard in front of the Honorable Phillip A. Koss on June 5, 2017, to address the admissibility of the statements given in Mr. Durski's hotel room, before he was placed in handcuffs. R. 63:5. There, testimony was taken from Officer Elder and body camera footage of the interrogation was played. R. 63. After the testimony concluded, Judge Koss agreed with the defense that Mr. Durski was not free to leave during the interrogation, however, held that the interrogation was reasonable as part of a probable cause detention, and that the statements were admissible. Id. at 22.

The final pretrial conference occurred on December 12, 2017, and the court specifically addressed one of Mr. Durski's motions in limine at that time. R. 65. Due to the time of the blood draw being over three hours after the alleged time of driving, and the fact that Mr. Durski consumed several alcoholic beverages after driving, the motion asked the court to prohibit the introduction of any expert testimony, unless the Court determined prior to trial that the testimony at issue met the standards of Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) and *Daubert v. Merrill Dow Pharmaceuticals*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). R. 19. Specifically, Mr. Durski asked the court to prohibit the introduction of expert testimony regarding blood alcohol

results without establishing, outside the jury's presence, "the time of driving, the time of the blood draw, and if that time is outside of the three-hour window in Wis. Stat. § 885.235, the state be required to first establish the scientific reliability of the method used to tie Mr. Durski's blood test result to the time of driving." R. 19:2. After hearing oral argument from both sides, the court held that under *Fonte*, the testimony was permissible under *Daubert*, without a separate hearing, and denied the motion. R. 63:7.

The matter proceeded to trial and was heard in front of a 12-person jury on December 21-22, 2017. R. 66. Testimony was taken from two citizen witnesses, Officer Elder, Officer Ryan Weston, Thomas Neuser—the state toxicology expert witness—and Mr. Durski himself. After deliberating, the jury found Mr. Durski guilty of both courts, R. 68:59, and the matter continued to sentencing that same day. Id. at 60. Mr. Durski was subsequently sentenced to 360 days local jail, 24 months Ignition interlock, 24 months DOT license revocation, payment of fines and court costs. Id. at 64. Mr. Durski filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief as well as notice of appeal. Mr. Durski now asks the Court of Appeals to review the trial court's erroneous denial of his motion to suppress statements and order permitting the introduction of retrograde extrapolation expert testimony without a Daubert hearing, when Mr. Durski consumed alcohol after driving.

ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANT WAS SUBJECTED TO CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION WITHOUT BEING READ MIRANDA WARNINGS IN VIOLAITION OF HIS FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHT AGAINST SELF INCRIMINATION.

A. Standard of Review.

In this case, the trial court erred when it denied Mr. Durski's motion to suppress the statements he provided officers as the result of a custodial interrogation. In reviewing the denial of suppression motion, the trial court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2). Whether those facts satisfy the constitutional requirements, however, presents a question of law subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Jackson*, 147 Wis.2d 824, 829, (1989).

B. Legal standards

In this case, Mr. Durski was subjected to custodial interrogation in his motel room by Officer Elder without being read his *Miranda* warnings, in violation of his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and therefore, the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress Mr. Durski's statements.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the privilege against compelled self-incrimination, and the Fourteenth Amendment requires state courts to observe this privilege. U.S. Const. Amend. V, XIV. In *Miranda v. Arizona*, the United States Supreme Court created procedural safeguards to protect the right against compelled self-incrimination, holding that:

[W]hen an individual is taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom by the authorities in any significant was and is subjected to questioning that he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires.

384 U.S. 436, 478-79 (1966). If officers fail to comply with the constitutional safeguards established in *Miranda*, the person's statement is inadmissible against that person. *Id*.

Miranda warnings are required to be delivered at the time a citizen is subjected to custodial interrogation. State v. Armstrong, 223 Wis.2d 331, 344-45 (1999), citing Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 444, Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 300 (1980), State v. Mitchell, 167 Wis. 2d 672, 686 (1992). A person is "in custody" for purposes of Miranda when he or she is "deprived of his [or her] freedom of action in any significant way." Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d at 353. At the time the police begin considering a citizen to be a suspect, and the citizen would no longer be permitted to leave, that citizen is in custody for Miranda purposes. See State v. Fillyaw, 104 Wis. 2d 700, 722 (1981).

Furthermore, an officer does not have to expressly "interrogate" a suspect for Fifth Amendment rights to attach, because a person is under "interrogation" for *Miranda* purposes when a person is "subjected to either express questioning or its functional equivalent." *Id.* At 356, citing *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291. Therefore,

Even when the officer testifies that his or her actions had some purpose other than interrogation, the action <u>must be viewed from the suspect's perspective</u> to determine whether such

conduct was reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. (Emphasis added).

Id. at 357, citing State v. Cunningham, 144 Wis.2d 272, 280 (1988). The objectives of the police at the time of the questioning is also a relevant factor. See State v. Fillyaw, 104 Wis.2d at 700. While, "generalized questioning of citizens in the fact-finding process is not a violation of Miranda rights," once a citizen becomes a suspect or is in custody on probable cause, the objectives of the police questioning then becomes to "seek out evidence in the field to be used at trial against him." Id.

The proper test for whether an individual was seized at the time of questioning is the objective test articulated by the court in *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980). There the court stated:

The question of whether a police contact is a 'seizure' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment is determined by reference to an objective test. '[A] person has been 'seized' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave.

State v. Williams, 225 Wis.2d 1, 5 (2002) (quoting United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554).

Applying this objective standard, a reasonable person in Mr. Durski's position would recognize Officer Elder's show of authority when he arrived at Mr. Durski's motel room and would not have felt free to disregard it and go about his business. Here, Mr. Durski was subjected to police contact and questioning *only* because he was the suspect in a "disorderly

conduct, family dispute type incident that occurred on Locust Lane in Whitewater." R. 63:7. As such, any questioning done by law enforcement was done with the objective to seek out evidence against him, and proper *Miranda* warnings were necessary under the circumstances.

C. The court erred when it denied Mr. Durski's motion to suppress statements elicited by law enforcement during the custodial interrogations before and after his field sobriety tests.

In this case, Mr. Durski was "in custody" for purposes of *Miranda* warnings when he was questioned in his hotel room, as he was already a suspect in Officer's Elder's disorderly conduct investigation; was not permitted to leave the scene at the time; and was subjected to express, and specific, questioning which was reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. Under such circumstances, Mr. Durski was objectively "seized" under the *Mendenhall* test, and the statements should not have been allowed to be admitted at trial unless proper *Miranda* warnings were given. The court, however, neglected to consider all relevant factors when it ruled on Mr. Durski's suppression motion.

After closing testimony at the June 6, 2017 hearing, the court made the following relevant findings regarding Mr. Durski's motion to suppress:

I agree that he's not free to leave, but I think it was a reasonable—it is a detention under reasonable suspicion because I think that it is completely credible that they are looking to see if these cans are there; and if there's real issues that put him under .08, they may believe there is not probable cause to arrest...

The officer's chatty with him. It's conversational; it's not accusatory at this point...I think the officers are doing a thorough job to ensure there's probable cause by seeing if those beer cans exist or don't...And therefore whether they find the cans right away or not, he's under arrest for that disorderly conduct, and anything after that would be suppressible.

R. 63:21-22. This decision, however, puts too much weight on the perceived objectives of the police, and affords absolutely no weight to how the situation would have been viewed from Mr. Durski's perspective, nor the fact that the officers continued to ask Mr. Durski specific and incriminating questions after putting him under arrest, and before reading him his Miranda rights. This, alone, is telling evidence contradicting the court's finding that the police were just being "thorough" by specifically interrogating Mr. Durski with no regard for his rights against self-incrimination.

The State itself conceded that Officer Elder and the other law enforcement members involved violated Mr. Durski's Fifth Amendment rights by continuing the unconstitutional interrogation of Mr. Durski, after he had been placed in handcuffs. R. 18. Although no testimony was taken regarding those later statements, due to the stipulation, it is entirely reasonable to assume that Officer Elder's explanation for those constitutional violations would have been that he was "just being thorough" in his investigation, as he claimed when justifying the former. This, however, does not justify the denial of Mr. Durski's Fifth Amendment protections, and how the situation would have been viewed through Mr. Durski's point of view. See *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis.2d at 357. ("Even when the officer testifies that his or her actions had some purpose other than interrogation, the action <u>must be viewed</u>

from the suspect's perspective to determine whether such conduct was reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response) (emphasis added).

The court admitted that Mr. Durski was not free to leave when it denied his motion to suppress, however completely failed to address whether or not the officers' conduct was reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. See *State* v. Fillyaw, 104 Wis. 2d at 722. See also, Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. at 291. In this case, Officer Elder testified that while still at 167 S. Locust Lane, he received information that Mr. Durski was seen driving a vehicle as he was leaving the residence, and that he had possibly consumed alcohol before he left the residence. R. 66:127. He then testified that "as part of his investigation," he thought it was "important to find Mr. Durski." *Id.* The only reasonable inference from this testimony, is that it was "important" to Officer Elder that he locate Mr. Durski, because he suspected Mr. Durski of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. Officer Elder's initial intentions may have been to only gather more information to determine probable cause to support this suspicion, however, the surrounding circumstances of Mr. Durski's questioning "transformed [a] reasonable seizure into an unreasonable one." *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 41.

Mr. Durski was woken up out of a sleep by police banging on his motel door, in a town where he did not live. R. 67:76. He was then questioned about an emotional "family" dispute by Officer Elder and was asked to perform field sobriety tests, after having very quickly consumed at least four alcoholic drinks at the motel. *Id.* at 73-77. Before conducting these tests, Officer Elder asked Mr. Durski *specific* questions about what kind of alcohol he had consumed, what brand of alcohol it was, where the containers could be located, etc. R. 63:8-9. He was asked to complete field sobriety tests, and his

detention was prolonged at least ten minutes while officers addressed an equipment failure. R: 63:10. Officers continued to interrogate Mr. Durski all the while, *id.* at 5, and later, even asked Mr. Durski to do a walk-through of his exact actions, before ever reading him his rights. R. 67:5. At this time, Officer Elder already had reasonable suspicion that Mr. Durski had been involved in the disorderly conduct that took place on Locust Lane, and that he had operated a motor vehicle while intoxicated, and any additional, specific questioning conducted by police would, therefore, have no purpose, other than to elicit an incriminating response.

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