RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-18-2019 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL NO. 2018AP001750 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER J. DURSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HONORABLE PHILLIP A. KOSS, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH I

> Zeke S. Wiedenfeld District Attorney for Walworth County, Wisconsin

By: Matthew R. Leusink Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1091526

ADDRESS:

P.O. Box 1001 Elkhorn, WI 53121 (262) 741-7198

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

As in *Quartana*, *Marten-Hoye*, and *Jones*, a reasonable person in Durski's position would not have considered himself to be in custody. No officer told Durski he was under arrest, brandish a weapon, or use any show of force whatsoever. An objective person in Durski's position would have understood that he was being detained so that officers could investigate the scene, and that depending on the outcome the defendant would be "free to leave".

Thus, the trial court properly found that any questions Durski made in response to Lieutenant Elder's questions in the hotel room prior to being placed under arrest are not subject to suppression.

II. THE STATE MET ITS BURDEN TO **ESTABLISH** THE ADMISSIBILITY OF THE PROFFERED **EXPERT TESTIMONY** REGARDING RETROGRADE EXTRAPOLATION.

A. Applicable Law And Standard Of Review.

The trial court's decision to admit expert testimony is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion and must be affirmed as long as "it has a rational basis and was made in accordance with accepted legal standards in

view of the facts." State v Giese, 2014 WI App 92, ¶16, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687.

Wisconsin Stat. § 907.02 governs the admissibility of expert testimony and provides:

(1) If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a [qualified] witness ... may testify thereto ... if the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

This statute adopts the reliability standards established by the United States Supreme Court in *Daubert*. *Giese*, 356 Wis. 2d 796, ¶17. Under these standards, the circuit court performs the function of "gate-keeper ... to ensure that the expert's opinion is based on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the material issues." *Id.*, ¶18.

This standard is flexible. Id., ¶19. As the United Supreme Court stated in Kumho Tire Co. States Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137 (1999), "the trial judge must have considerable leeway in deciding in a particular case how to go about determining whether particular expert testimony is reliable." Id. at 152. The trial court has broad discretion in deciding what procedure to use in making a determination as to the reliability of scientific evidence under Daubert. Trial courts have the option of taking judicial notice of

the reliability of scientific evidence, just as in our current case. In particular, the Daubert Court noted that if a trial court decides to take judicial notice of the reliability of scientific evidence, a hearing as to that issue would no longer be necessary. If a theory technique is "so firmly established as to have attained the status of scientific law," then the theory or technique need not be examined at all. Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592, n. 11. Other courts have indeed embraced this concept and noted that a Daubert hearing is not necessary when other courts have found the scientific evidence sufficiently reliable under the Daubert analysis. U.S. v. Pena, 586 F.3d 105, 110 (1st Cir. 2009); United States v. Alatorre, 222 F.3d 1098, 1099 (9th Cir. 2000) (holding that a separate Daubert hearing outside the presence of the jury was unnecessary).

Further, when appellate courts have reviewed a trial court's decision where it declined to hold a Daubert hearing, the appellate courts apply an abuse of discretion standard, and have upheld the trial court's decision. *Id.* Declining to hold a *Daubert* hearing is further justified if the defense fails to produce any novel challenge. *U.S.* v. *Mitchell*, 365 F.3d 215, 246 (3rd Cir. 2004). "[A] district court would not abuse its discretion by limiting, in a

proper case, the scope of a *Daubert* hearing to novel challenges to the admissibility of latent fingerprint identification evidence - or even dispensing with the hearing altogether if no novel challenge was raised." *Id*. This does not in any way shift the burden to the defense. Rather, the *Daubert* Court itself suggested that judicial notice on these issues is appropriate to preserve scarce judicial resources. *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 582, n. 11.

There is no requirement that the trial court "recite the Daubert standard as though it were some magical incantation." Ancho v. Pentek Corp., 157 F.3d 512, 518 (7th Cir. 1998). Nor does the trial court have to apply all the factors suggested in Daubert or Kumho. Goebel v. Denver and Rio Grande Western R.R. Co., 215 F.3d 1083, 1088 (10th Cir. 2000). However, when faced with a party's objection, the trial court must adequately demonstrate by specific findings on the record that the gatekeeping duty has been performed. Id.

B. The Trial Court Properly Admitted Evidence Regarding Retrograde Extrapolation Without Conducting A *Daubert* Hearing.

Citing State v. Giese, Durski argues that "the trial court improperly permitted the State to introduce the blood-alcohol result and reverse extrapolation at Mr. Durski's trial without conducting the requested Daubert

hearing." See Durski's Brief at p. 16. Durski's reliance on Giese to support his position, however, is misplaced.

In State v Giese, Giese argued that an expert opinion is inadmissible under Wis. Stat. § 907.02 claiming that the opinion failed to satisfy the statute due to insufficient facts and data because the expert relied upon "unprovable and improper assumptions" when forming an opinion. Id. at 798. Giese's vehicle had crashed, Giese was located a distance from the crash, about three miles, he was lying in the roadway when located, Giese was swaying, smelled of alcohol, admitted to drinking, and stated he had crashed his vehicle, but fell asleep on the road when walking home. Id. at 799. Not knowing the exact time of the vehicle crash, the expert in Giese performed a "back extrapolation" making assumptions and calculated a range of possible blood alcohol concentrations based on different possible times of the crash. Id. at 801. Similarly to our case, the blood test result was not automatically admissible under Wis. Stat. § 885.235, but required expert testimony to establish probative value. Id. The court in Giese ruled that the expert's opinion about retrograde extrapolation admissible stating that under Daubert the court performs "a gate -keeping function." Id. at 803. The expert relied on not only the blood test result but also the "scenario". Id.

Similar to *Giese*, the trial court properly exercised its discretion by allowing the State to introduce the blood-alcohol result and retrograde extrapolation at Durski's trial without a separate hearing.

At the pretrial hearing, Durski requested a *Daubert* hearing before the State be allowed to introduce expert testimony on retrograde extrapolation. Durski argued:

I think the state has to establish that not only is the retrograde extrapolation that's being done scientifically appropriate, but also that the inferences that the expert is using are appropriate. I think that's where the difficulty is here, because of the timing, but also because there's an allegation that alcohol was consumed after the time of driving, and that specifically throws doubt on the reliability of any potential retrograde extrapolation.

So I think prior to introducing that evidence in front of the jury, it's at least appropriate to have a hearing to determine what facts the expert is relying upon and whether that is then scientifically reliable to the appropriate standard.

R65:4-5. The State responded:

Well, I think the analyst can testify about what parameters he is using to make that calculation. From my experience with asking Mr. Neuser to do retrograde extrapolation, he does just that.

As to allegations of there being drinking subsequent to driving, I think that really goes more to the weight. It's for the jury to determine whether or not those allegations are credible or not. I don't see the need to have a separate *Daubert* hearing outside the presence of the jury.

R65:5. As an offer of proof the State alleged:

[I]n looking at the reports here, is that law enforcement was dispatched at 1:13 a.m. to the residence for an incident that had happened there. They were advised that Mr. Durski had left in a vehicle. And then they were advised while at that Mr. Durski scene was consuming intoxicants. And then the defendant's vehicle well, the vehicle registered to his father, the one he was driving, was found at the Super 8 Motel, and Mr. Durski was located at the motel. And they detected signs of intoxicants. He did make allegations that he had consumed a couple of beers when he arrived at the hotel...The report does not list an exact time [police encountered Mr. Durski as the motel]. The blood draw I would note was at 4:31 a.m.

They did look around with Mr. Durski for some time to look for these empty alcohol cans or bottles. I don't believe they found any. But I also note the defendant's at a .02 restriction.

R65:6-7. Defense counsel added the following facts to the offer of proof:

I would just add I believe Mr. Durski indicated that he had several beers and a shot of blackberry brandy in his vehicle prior to entering the hotel. He had apparently left the residence prior to the police being called at 1:13. And the blood draw is at four, after four o'clock in the morning.

R65:7. The State further stated that the results of the blood draw was .094. R 65:7.

Based on this record, the Court concluded:

All right. Well, I guess what I've seen them do before, Ms. Schmeiser, is take the drinks that he has said, add them in, and then do a retrograde analysis with the average rate of elimination of .015. I mean, but they're going to have to agree - well, they can do a range, but credit his drinks. But I don't think that means - as long as they do that, I believe that under

Fonte, it will - it's permissible under Daubert. If they don't take into account his drinks, I agree, I won't permit that to occur.

•••

Now, it doesn't mean you have to agree to his number to drinks, Mr. Leusink. You could have a range. But I think it has to be considered, at least. All right.

R65:7-8.

Here, similar to Giese, the circuit court determined retrograde extrapolation was reliable, and therefore admissible, because it had been used by litigants Wisconsin courtrooms for decades. See, e.g., State v. Fonte, 2005 WI 77, 281 Wis.2d 654, ¶ 18, 698 N.W.2d 594. The circuit court offered a reasoned explanation as to why it determined retrograde extrapolation was reliable and admissible pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 907.02. As acknowledged by the Giese, retrograde extrapolation is a widely accepted methodology in the forensic toxicology field and wellestablished in our courts. See Giese, 356 Wis. 2d 796, ¶22 (explaining that "retrograde extrapolation is a generally accepted scientific method" and "[w]e are not aware of any court that has determined that the general methodology of ... retrograde extrapolation fails the Daubert standard"). Of course, retrograde extrapolation is subject to "certain doubts and disagreements." Giese, 356 Wis. 2d 796, ¶23. But

"[t]he mere fact that some experts may disagree about the reliability of retrograde extrapolation does not mean that testimony about retrograde extrapolation violates Daubert standard." Giese, 356 Wis. 2d 796, ¶23. In finding retrograde extrapolation admissible, the Giese Court ruled "Giese still has the chance to undermine t.hat. assumptions that support the expert's opinion by introducing evidence or arguing the favor of competing inferences from the known facts. But the expert's opinion is admissible under Daubert." Id. at ¶28. This established history of retrograde extrapolation-revealed in appellate decisions and the circuit court's experience-was fair game for the court to rely on. See State v. Cameron, 2016 WI App 54, ¶25, 370 Wis. 2d 661, 885 N.W.2d 611 (relying on previous court decisions holding that "cell phone location technology" was reliable). Under current law, a Daubert hearing was clearly not required for testimony regarding retrograde extrapolation.

Finally, while Durski challenges the facts relied on by the expert, "[t]he accuracy of the facts upon which the expert relies and the ultimate determinations of credibility and accuracy are for the jury" as the concerns with retrograde extrapolation "go to the weight of the

evidence, not to its admissibility." Giese, 356 Wis. 2d 796, ¶¶23, 28.

Giese remains free to challenge the accuracy of the expert's assumptions. He may, for instance, propose competing scenarios-e.g., that drank all the alcohol soon before driving. Or he began drinking alcohol, or continued drinking, after the crash. In our adversarv system, "[j]uries resolve factual disputes" like those. State v. Abbott Labs., 2012 WI 62, ¶ 69, 510, N.W.2d 341 Wis.2d 816 145 (citation omitted); see also Daubert, 509 U.S. at 596, 113 2786 ("Vigorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof are traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence."). Giese still has the chance to undermine the assumptions that expert's opinion support the by introducing arquing in favor of evidence or competing inferences from the known facts. But the expert's opinion is admissible under Daubert.

Id. at ¶ 28. Just as in Giese, Durski was free to, and in fact did, challenge the expert's hypothetical assumptions by "propos[ing] competing scenarios" and conducting a vigorous cross examination. Id., ¶28. Durski was given ample opportunity through cross-examination to question the State's expert on the basis for his findings regarding retrograde extrapolation or present contrary evidence. The trial court in no way limited the defendant in this respect at trial. R67:29-57.

Thus, the circuit court exercised its discretion and fashioned a process to assess the reliability of the

expert's testimony through cross-examination. The Durski's argument was thrust of that the expert insufficient data to render a reliable opinion. Similar to Giese, after hearing the State's offer of proof, circuit court concluded that the expert's testimony was sufficiently reliable and any deficiencies were best dealt with by allowing Durski to explore its factual basis and limitations on cross-examination. Id. at ¶28. The circuit court's decision to deal with these uncertainties finding the underlying method reliable under Wis. Stat. § 907.02, and allowing cross-examination on its application here, was a reasonable exercise of discretion.

However, even if the court erroneously admitted the expert testimony about retrograde extrapolation, there is no reasonable probability of a different outcome so as to warrant a new trial of this case. State v. Kleser, 2010 WI 88, ¶94, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144. This was a .02 blood alcohol case. The result of Durski's blood draw of a .094 grams per 100 milliliters, was admitted into evidence. R67:38. Even without retrograde extrapolation evidence, the jury was presented with evidence from two witnesses, Patricia Bongiorno and J. Patrick Fredrich, that Durski was intoxicated prior to leaving the house in his motor vehicle and that they did not observe Durski leave with any

alcoholic beverages. R66:82-84, 87,107-110, 119. Lieutenant Elder further testified to Durski's intoxicated condition and that Durski initially stated that he had not drank after driving to the hotel, but changed his story after Elder requested Durski to perform field sobriety tests. R66:130-132. Durski originally stated he drank three to four beers and a shot of blackberry brandy at the house. R66:131. Durski later stated that when he left the house he had taken two twelve ounce cans of Bud Light beer with him and drank them after he got to the hotel. R66:132-133. Officers thoroughly searched the premises at the hotel and never located any Bud Light beer cans. Officers also searched Durski's vehicle and never located any beer cans any other alcoholic beverages, even though Durski claimed the cans were in the area. R67:7-9, 26, 94-96, 99-101. At trial Durski changed his story yet again, and testified that when he got to the hotel he slammed three beers and a couple chugs of blackberry brandy. R67:73-74, 84, 86-87, 93. Finally, Advanced Chemist Thomas Neuser testified to the process by which alcohol will dissipate from a person's blood stream, the effects of alcohol on the central nervous system and that alcohol is impairing at all levels. R67:41, 45-46. As such, any error was harmless.

CONCLUSION

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